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PREFACE





This is the story of one of the most notorious unsolved murders in California history—probably in American history. The story of the murder of a twenty-two-year-old girl, whose bisected body was found in the grass beside a sidewalk in a Los Angeles suburb in January 1947. Perhaps, if the newspapers had not come up with the name, the case would have languished in obscurity along with the hundreds of others marked “unsolved” in the basement of the Los Angeles Police Department. But the moniker “Black Dahlia”—evocative of an exotic flower, of desire both toxic and intoxicating—has ensured that the case remains forever imprinted in the public consciousness, a potent symbol of the dark side of Hollywood, and, by extension, of the American dream.


This book is part detective story and part history. Partly, it is also a snapshot of a great American city and its police department as they stood at a specific moment in time. This era is commonly visualized through the movies, as the era of film noir: a time of corrupt cops and gun-toting gangsters, cynical heroes, and bottle blondes doling out deadpan one-liners. But the slick film noir repartee belied the brutal inequalities of reality. In truth, it was a tough time after a tough war in a tough world. The Black Dahlia case tapped into both the imagery and the issues. As such, it became a real-life noir story, acquiring its own mythic dimensions as fact and fiction became hard to disentangle.


In the following pages I tell the story of this extraordinary case. However, despite its narrative form, this is not a work of fiction. Anything between quotation marks comes from a letter, memoir, or other written document. If I describe the weather on a particular day, it is because I checked the contemporary weather reports. The action takes place almost exclusively in Los Angeles, but I must beg forgiveness for a wide sweep across the decades from postwar to the present. Such a range is necessary to present the story in its entirety. I hope the reader will also allow for a change of narrative voice at the end of the story. This is necessary to broaden the scope of the account, from a historical retelling of the tale to the context of a modern-day investigation. Readers who find the chapter headings evocative of film noir movie titles of the 1940s and ’50s would be absolutely correct.


An especially challenging aspect of investigating this particular case is that the Los Angeles Police Department has consistently refused to release the crime scene photographs and the full autopsy report. In addition, various key items of evidence—in particular, physical evidence such as the victim’s purse, shoes, and letters—are no longer available or have disappeared. The main source of contemporary evidence remains the important cache of papers related to the case collated for a grand jury investigation in 1949, and recently released by the Los Angeles district attorney. While it is highly probable that some items of contemporary evidence were suppressed by certain members of the police department at the time, it should be emphasized that police practices in general and the conduct of the LAPD as described in this book are limited to the period of the historical events discussed. There is no evidence whatsoever that today’s LAPD was involved in any “cover-up,” or indeed has any idea whether these items of evidence actually exist, or, if they exist, where they are.


In the end, this is a story about truth: the search for truth and its suppression. The sixteenth-century English philosopher Francis Bacon has said that truth is the child of time. If this is the case, then I offer this book as the offspring of the years, which, like Moses in the cradle, has finally come to rest in the bulrushes of the Nile (or, in this case, the Mississippi).


Piu Eatwell, 2017
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(A full list of dramatis personae begins on pp 275.)
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Clemence B. Horrall (until summer 1949)


William A. Worton (after summer 1949)


Assistant Chief of the LAPD


Joe Reed (until summer 1949)


LAPD Chief of Detectives


Thaddeus Franklin “Thad” Brown (from summer 1949); elder brother of Finis Brown
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Head of Homicide:
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LAPD Gangster Squad
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William “Willie” Burns (until late 1949)


Gangster Squad Detectives Assigned to the Dahlia Case:


John J. “JJ” O’Mara


Archie Case


James Ahern


Loren K. Waggoner
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James Hugh “Jimmy” Richardson—city editor for the Los Angeles Examiner, Hearst newspaper


Agness “Aggie” Underwood—city editor for the Los Angeles Evening Herald & Express, another Hearst newspaper and rival of the Examiner


THE VICTIM


Elizabeth Short—the “Black Dahlia,” victim of a gruesome murder in January 1947


Phoebe Mae Short—mother of the victim


Mark Hansen—Danish nightclub owner and Hollywood businessman, close friend of Short; no relation to Harry “the Hat” Hansen of the LAPD


Ann Toth—Hollywood bit player, close friend of Short


Marjorie Graham—girlfriend of Short


Lynn Martin—nightclub singer, girlfriend of Short


Dorothy and Elvera French—cinema assistant and her mother who housed Short briefly in San Diego in December/January 1947–48


THE SUSPECTS


George Hodel—celebrity Hollywood doctor


Leslie Duane Dillon—twenty-seven-year-old drifter and hotel bellhop


Corporal Joseph Dumais—one of over five hundred “confessing Sams” who claimed to have committed the murder




 


PART 1


FALLEN ANGEL





“This is a rotten town with a lot of rotten people in it.”


—A MAN ALONE (1955)
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FAREWELL MY LOVELY





Sunrise was at 6:58 a.m. in Los Angeles on the morning of Wednesday, January 15, 1947. The month had been an unusually bleak one for Southern California. Dense fog had descended on the coastal towns of Long Beach and Redondo. The sea fog was accompanied by a razor-edged wind that whipped up the Pacific rollers and sent raw blasts through the boulevards of a city more accustomed to the hot, dry, dusty winter gusts of the Santa Ana winds.


The previous night had been a rare one in Los Angeles because there had been a hard frost on the ground. Black smoke trailed across the sky from the smudge pots lit to protect the orange groves that, in those days, still carpeted the slopes of the San Fernando Valley. A slice of waning moon hung over the orange trees, their pale blossoms and fragile perfume already in the process of being obliterated by rows of white concrete grid housing. Farther south from San Fernando, in Hollywood and downtown Los Angeles, trolley cars shuttled their late-night cargo of drunks, streetwalkers, and transients around the city, seemingly oblivious to their impending annihilation even as they rattled along in the shadow of the construction work on the latest phase of the Hollywood Freeway. In just a few years, the freeway would become the major road linking northern suburbia with Tinseltown. The old central tramway would be demolished as part of a lofty plan to transform the City of Angels into, in actor Bob Hope’s words, “the biggest parking lot in the world.”*


Like much of Los Angeles, Leimert Park in the south of the city was the planned master community of an ambitious property developer. When Walter H. Leimert† began his dream project in 1927, he envisaged a model community of homes in the newly fashionable Spanish Colonial Revival style, which would give white middle-income families their piece of the American dream. Sandwiched between Jefferson Park to the north, Hyde Park to the south, and Baldwin Hills to the west, the residential district boasted its own town square, movie theater, and shopping malls. Even more impressive, it was designed by the firm Olmsted and Olmsted, sons of Frederick Law Olmsted, the man who landscaped New York’s Central Park.


In the 1940s, Leimert Park was the perfect place for young, white married couples to start a family. So it was for John and Betty Ber­singer, who in 1945 had purchased a bungalow with a neat garden and wrought-iron grilles in the 3700 block of Norton Avenue—one of a series of narrow ribbon-roads to the north of Leimert. As elsewhere, the war had stopped housing development on their block, and the lots one block south were covered with weeds: stiff horseweed, yellow mustard, and stinging nettles in the spring and summer; clumps of wiry grass, ranging Mexican oleander, and hard, black earth in the winter. Nothing stood on the vacant scrub other than a row of electricity pylons, a line of black masts linked with skimming wires that leaped and ducked to the horizon.


Despite the unfinished housing developments, sidewalks had been put in along the vacant lots, and this part of the park was a popular recreation area for mothers and children. It was also where Ringling Bros. and Barnum & Bailey sometimes had their circus. So it was that, at 10:00 a.m. on the clear, cold morning of Wednesday, January 15, 1947, Betty Bersinger packed her three-year-old daughter, Anne, into her stroller and headed out south across the vacant lots, making for a repair shop to pick up her husband’s shoes. The crunch of broken glass underfoot at the 3800 block of Norton caught the young housewife’s attention as she tried to steer the stroller clear of the shards scattered on the sidewalk.


Then, glancing up, Betty saw the flies. There was a big black cloud of them buzzing low over something. Squinting, the young mother could just about make out what appeared to be a white shop mannequin sprawled on the rough grass by the sidewalk. Bizarrely, it appeared to have been cut in half. “My goodness, it was so white,” said Betty, many years later. “It didn’t look like anything more than perhaps an artificial model. It was so white, and separated in the middle. I noticed the dark hair and this white, white form.” The presence of the palely glinting object, in a place where children played, was troubling. “It just didn’t seem right to me,” said Betty. “I could see these kids on their bicycles, and I thought, maybe it will scare those kids if they ride to school and see this, so I’d better call somebody to come along at least and have a look, and see what it is.” The thought that what she had seen was anything other than a broken store dummy barely entered Betty’s head.


Hurrying past the vacant lots, Betty tried the doorbell of the first house on the next block. There was nobody home. At the second house, however, a woman opened the door. Betty explained that she had seen something strange a block back. She asked to use the telephone. When the call was answered at the police station, she briefly outlined what she had seen and told them someone should come check it out. Then—having triggered what was to become one of the biggest manhunts in the history of modern America—Mrs. Bersinger trundled on her way with her buggy and her child to the shopping mall.


The call came through to the police complaint board at 10:55 a.m. A shrill-voiced female—who hung up abruptly without identifying herself—complained that there was an unsightly object off the sidewalk in the vacant lot on Norton Avenue between Thirty-ninth Street and Coliseum, in the middle of the block on the west side, and could someone please take care of it. At 11:07 a.m. a radio car was dispatched to the scene, with uniformed patrolmen Frank Perkins and Will Fitzgerald of the University Division. Accustomed, as regular flatfeet, to booking the streetwalkers, dope peddlers, and drunks who were the usual detritus of Skid Row, Perkins and Fitzgerald were ill-prepared for the sight that awaited them. They immediately radioed in to the Homicide Division.


By 11:30 a.m., word of there being a “man down” on Norton between Thirty-ninth Street and Coliseum had spread through town. A throng of newspapermen with heavy camera equipment and phosphorescent flashbulbs gathered to join Sergeant Finis A. Brown and Lieutenant Harry L. Hansen, the Homicide Division detectives who had been dispatched to the scene. “ ‘A 390W–415 down’ meant a female drunk passed out sans clothes,” recalled Los Angeles journalist Will Fowler, twenty-four years old at the time. Fowler had never had his picture taken with a dead body before, so he cut a deal with news photographer Felix Paegel to split a bottle of bourbon if Paegel took a photograph of him kneeling beside the corpse. A circle of fedoras, jabbing fingers, and smoking flashbulbs soon surrounded the form with its cluster of buzzing flies.


One of the first to arrive on the scene was Agness Underwood, veteran crime reporter of the Los Angeles Evening Herald-Express. Agness, known to all as “Aggie,” had been born in San Francisco in 1902. Her mother had died when she was six years old. She had subsequently been dumped by her itinerant, glass-blower father into a series of charity homes and foster families around the country. Finally, abandoned as a teenager in Los Angeles by a relative who had tried unsuccessfully to get her into the movies as a child actress, Aggie had managed to find her way to a Salvation Army hostel downtown. She had worked as a waitress and married a young soda jerk, Harry Underwood, for fear of being turned over to the authorities for living on her own underage. The pair had settled in Ocean Park in 1920, running a soda fountain lunch counter. Aggie was a housewife in Los Angeles when she applied for her first newspaper job, working vacation relief on a metropolitan switchboard. She later claimed she only wanted the job to buy new silk stockings, which her husband told her they couldn’t afford.‡


By January 1947, Aggie had worked her way up from switchboard operator to the Herald-Express’s premier crime beat reporter. She was forty-four years old, a short, sturdy woman with a square jaw, pugnacious appearance, and a ready grin. “She should have been a man,” said the Herald-Express managing editor, J. B. T. Campbell. She was “a rip-snorting, gogettum reporter that goes through fire lines, trails killers, weeps with divorcees and rides anything from airplanes to mules to reach the spot that in newspapers is usually marked with an arrow or an x.” Aggie took great pains to distance herself from the sob-sister line of reporting that was the traditional beat for female journalists. “To hell with that. I’d rather have a fistful—an armload—of good, solid facts,” she said. Underwood wrote like a man, cussed like a man, and joined in her male colleagues’ pranks. Once, she slapped the city editor in the face with a fish that had been brought to the office in a tank. She dressed in the shabby, slapdash fashion of the male journalists: rumpled and unremarkable dresses, no makeup, low-heeled shoes. Colleagues recalled that her hair often looked as if it had been combed by an electric mixer. “She was a raggedy-looking woman,” said Jack Smith, a high-profile columnist who worked with Aggie. But Aggie could also work her gender to advantage, when it suited her. She sewed back the wayward buttons of her male colleagues’ shirts, invited them home for spaghetti dinners, and brought her kids into the office to hand out gifts at Christmas. From the very beginning, she saw the big picture: skillfully mapping out a strategy where she would be seen as an exceptional journalist who just happened to be a woman. Within two years, she was to become the city editor of the Herald-Express, one of the first women to be appointed to the position on a U.S. national newspaper.


It was a matter of great pride to Aggie that she was tougher than any man when it came to covering gruesome crime stories. “I was no sissy in my control of my reaction to blood and guts,” she said. Once, when police discovered two rotting corpses on a living room sofa, male officers and newspapermen waited outside for the room to air. Aggie marched straight in, climbed over the corpses, retrieved their IDs, and phoned in her story. Afterward, she sent her brown dress to the cleaners, but complained that “the odor persisted.”


But even Aggie was shocked at what she saw on Norton Avenue the morning of January 15, 1947.


The body—wreathed in smoke from dozens of flashbulbs—was unquestionably female. It lay amid sparse weeds a couple of feet from the sidewalk. The arms were bent in right angles at the elbows and raised above the shoulders: in supplication, it seemed in death, in reality, the consequence of having been strung up by the wrists when alive. The legs were spread apart. There were bruises and cuts on the forehead. The face had been severely beaten. The hair was blood-matted. The eyes, which were closed, seemed strangely peaceful in contrast to the mouth, which had been slashed from ear to ear in a satanic smile. Most shockingly of all, the body had been cut in half through the abdomen, under the ribs. The two sections were ten or twelve inches apart. The liver hung out of the torso. A deep, gaping slit had been cut from the pubic area to just under the navel. It was, as one eyewitness was later to recall, as though “two hunks of human flesh had been laid down like two sides of beef.”


In the city of Los Angeles in the 1940s, homicide detectives encountered a killing every two or three days. The department listed 131 murders in 1946, and 119 in 1947. Only a few blocks west, in the Baldwin Hills—as those who gazed at the grisly spectacle were all too aware—was the spot where ten years beforehand Albert Dyer, a WPA street-crossing guard, had assaulted, garroted, and tossed aside the bodies of three little girls, the “Babes of Inglewood.”§ But this was the most grotesque murder that those hard-nosed cops and newshounds had witnessed. The scene, Aggie said later, “showed sadism at its most frenzied—the worst butcher murder I was ever assigned.” The male policemen and reporters thought the woman was about thirty-six years old. But Aggie, with her sharp eyes and personal experience, noticed the “youthful condition of the breasts and the smooth thighs.” She knew the girl was much younger—early twenties, probably. Later that morning, the gruesome remains of “Jane Doe #1”—as the corpse had been christened—were sealed in an aluminum coffin with screw-clamps and taken by Black Maria¶ to the Los Angeles city morgue.


The Hall of Justice in downtown Los Angeles had rats as big as cats. They scampered and squealed down the drafty corridors of the massive fifteen-story building, which towered grim-faced over the city’s civic center. The hall had been built in 1925 from Sierra granite, and its squat Corinthian columns were inspired by the Mausoleum at Helicarnassus, one of the Seven Wonders of the Ancient World. This was all the more fitting in that the building—which housed the district attorney’s and the sheriff’s offices—also happened to house the city morgue, deep within the vaults of the basement floor. The rear basement entry to the morgue was much like that of a wholesale grocery receiving entrance. Here it was that the two pieces of the corpse of Jane Doe #1 were unloaded and weighed on a set of black floor-level scales. “When they were told that the body was cut in half,” recalled news photographer Felix Paegel, “the Coroner said the autopsy would be performed right after lunch.”


Later on Thursday, January 16, the body was placed on a hard porcelain mortuary table. Above it hovered Dr. Frederick D. Newbarr, M.D., chief autopsy surgeon for Los Angeles County. Dr. Newbarr was dressed in a white autopsy gown, rubber apron, rubber gloves, and white galoshes. The table upon which the corpse lay was one in a row of several in the room. Each table had a corpse laid out on its gleaming surface, the head propped up on a wooden block. The room was infused with the stench of disinfectant, masking the unmistakable odor of decay.


The saying went that dead men told no tales, but Dr. Newbarr knew this was not true. Of the many dozen corpses that passed under his scalpel each week, every single one told a story, compelling to those who could read it. They spoke of empty lives in glamorous Hollywood villas, violence behind the mock-Tudor façades of the mansions of oil magnates, secrets in the basements of ranches in the forested canyons. There were the torn and broken fingernails of the woman who had clawed her attacker’s face in a last bid for her life; the grip marks on the shoulders of the “accidentally” drowned child; the hesitation scars and cuts on the wrists of the youth who had committed suicide rather than face a court-martial for desertion. For Newbarr, toiling in his basement morgue, every single body presented a new and coded message to crack.


The body found in Leimert Park was a challenge for even the most experienced of forensic pathologists. Yet, by meticulous examination and assessment, Dr. Newbarr succeeded in itemizing the many horrific mutilations inflicted on the victim. His final report, with its staccato-like scientific terminology, made chilling reading. The body, Newbarr noted, was that of a female, about fifteen to twenty years of age, measuring five feet five inches in height and weighing 115 pounds. There were multiple lacerations to the face, inflicted by a sharp knife: in particular, a deep laceration over three inches long, which extended from the corners of the mouth. The teeth were in an advanced state of decay: the two upper central incisors were loose, and one lower incisor. The rest of the teeth showed cavities. The head showed evidence of severe blows, although the skull had not been fractured. Depressed ridges in the wrists suggested the girl had been strung up by the wrists and tortured. The blows to the head and lacerations to the mouth had been delivered while the victim was alive. It was these, Newbarr decided, that had probably killed her. The rest of the lacerations had been inflicted upon her when dead, including a distinctive network of crisscrossed slashes to parts of the body and across the pubic region, where the hair had been cut off and removed. There was no evidence of strangulation or suffocation. The grass upon which the body was laid had been wet with dew, suggesting that it had been placed there before dawn. Newbarr was of the view that death had occurred twenty-four hours previously, probably less.


A square of tissue had been removed from the right breast; and there were multiple scratches on the surface of the left. Healed scars on the chest suggested an old operation on the lungs. This was corroborated by the fact that, while the left lung was healthy, the right had pleural adhesions. Both arms were covered in cuts and scratches. Her nails were very short, and bitten to the quick. The palms of her hands were roughened, but not with calluses. The hair was dark brown but had been hennaed, with the original dark strands beginning to grow out. On each foot, the big toenail was painted bright red.#


The trunk was completely severed, by an incision that cut through the intestine and the soft disc between the vertebrae. It appeared that a very sharp, long-bladed butcher’s or carving knife had been used to sever the body, and that the killer might have used a straight razor to inflict torture before death. The organs of the abdomen were entirely exposed, with lacerations of the intestines and both kidneys. There was no evidence of pregnancy, and the uterus was small. There was, however, evidence of what Newbarr delicately described as “female trouble.” This was later explained as a cyst on the Bartholin gland.** There was also a gaping laceration four and a quarter inches long, extending down from the navel to just above the pubis. A latticework of cuts had been made on both sides of this laceration, above the pubic bone. There was also a square pattern of lacerations in the skin of the right hip, and an irregular shape of flesh that had been removed from the front of the left thigh.†† While the vaginal canal remained intact, the anal opening was markedly dilated with multiple abrasions, indicating insertion of a foreign object. The soles of the feet were stained brown, and the stomach was filled with feces and unidentifiable particles. All smears for spermatozoa were negative. The corpse was completely clean and drained of blood, indicating that the killing had been accomplished at a different location from which the body was found. Fibers from what appeared to be a stiff brush revealed that the body had been thoroughly scrubbed, particularly in the pubic region and points of mutilation. The fibers were sent to the FBI for analysis. They were found to be of coconut hair, probably from a cheap scrubbing brush. They were of no assistance to a possible identification.


Dr. Newbarr’s report made it clear that the majority of gruesome mutilations had been performed on the dead woman’s body after her death. They suggested necrophilia and a fetishism with knives. The blows to the head and lacerations to the face, on the other hand, had been performed when the victim was still alive. They were the hallmarks of a sadistic lust murderer. There was much discussion about the “clean” nature of the bisection of the body, and the fact that the corpse had been professionally drained of blood. It was speculated that the killer either had medical training or experience with handling corpses in a mortuary. While the possibility that the killer was a doctor was entertained, this was not a requisite. The famous LAPD detective “Jigsaw John” St. John, who was to inherit the case many years later, stated that while “the perpetrator may have had some knowledge of anatomy . . . he wasn’t necessarily in the medical profession.” Of greater significance was the manifest fascination of the killer with death.


Two key items of information relating to the mutilations were withheld from public disclosure. These were to be kept secret, as an aid in interviewing potential suspects. They were facts that only the killer would know.


For the moment also, only the killer knew a third fact. Who was Jane Doe #1?





* The Hollywood Freeway—the primary shortcut spanning the Cahuenga Pass to link the San Fernando Valley with the Los Angeles Basin—was completed in three stages in 1940, 1954, and 1968.


† Walter H. Leimert (1877–1970) was born in Oakland, California. The son of German emigrants, he was to become a significant Los Angeles property developer.


‡ Aggie added the distinctive double s to her name on her second marriage in 1920, to the same man. Her husband, Harry, persuaded her to marry him again, because a dance hall was running a promotion that was paying couples $100 to tie the knot. Aggie was reluctant to do so, but Harry assured her there was no illegality in marrying the same person twice.


§ Albert Dyer and the Babes of Inglewood case are discussed in detail on pages 84–86.


¶ Black Maria: Contemporary term for the coroner’s truck.


# While the hair had been hennaed, it had the overall appearance of the original dark brown, as the hair was growing out: as evidenced by the dead body report and morgue photographs.


** Bartholin’s cyst: a small, fluid-filled sac inside the opening of a woman’s vagina, which if inflamed can cause an abscess and resultant discomfort during sexual intercourse.


†† The removal of the flesh from the left thigh was particularly significant and is discussed in later chapters.
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A DOUBLE LIFE





The news flash came through to the offices of the Los Angeles Examiner on the morning of January 15 from its police reporter, Bill Zelinsky. When it did, the city editor, Jimmy Richardson, shot every newspaperman and photographer in the office out on it. The staff of the Los Angeles Examiner called Jimmy the “last of the terrible men.” He had been born in Windsor, Ontario, in 1894. His father was a Detroit horse-drawn carriage retailer put out of business by Henry Ford. Jimmy had started his career as a reporter in Winnipeg in 1912, after being expelled from school. The following year he moved to Los Angeles, to work at the Los Angeles Evening Herald, the Post Record, the Daily News, and finally the Los Angeles Examiner.


By 1947, Jimmy—a recovered alcoholic now hitting his fifties, scrawny, balding, and bespectacled—had worked virtually every big story that had come out of L.A. in the last thirty-five years. In the 1930s, he had single-handedly waged war against the gangster Bugsy Siegel. Jimmy was tough as boots, but there was just the tiniest chink in his hard-boiled armory: a predilection for quoting the poetry of G. K. Chesterton.*


Jimmy knew, from years in the newspaper game, that the way for a city editor to jump on a story was to “shoot the works at it.” Then you waited, with your “blood pounding and your insides churning.”


The Examiner reporter Sid Hughes was the first to call in on the story.


“It’s a pip,” he told Jimmy.


“Who is she?”


“Don’t know. Can’t find a thing to identify her. Nothing on the body. Good looking gal.”


“Pictures?”


“Plenty but you can’t print them. She’s all cut up. Face and everything. I can give you detailed description, hair, eyes, height, weight and all that stuff. That’s all there is to go on.”


When Sid called the story in, the huge city room in the Examiner offices at Eleventh and Broadway was just waking up. The photo editor hurried up to Jimmy with a dripping eight-by-ten blowup of the bisected body. The reporters gathered around and stared. Richardson dispatched a man from the art department to make a sketch of the girl as she probably looked in life. He set the photographers working on printable crime scene photos that showed the nude corpse decorously covered by an airbrushed blanket. The Examiner’s January 15 Extra edition came out with the headline “Fiend Tortures, Kills Girl.” It sold more copies than the edition that had covered the bombing of Pearl Harbor. The only edition to beat it was the one that came out on V-J Day. The writer Arthur James Pegler had said that “a Hearst newspaper is like a screaming woman running down the street with her throat cut.” For once, nobody accused the newspaper of exaggeration.


Bill Zelinsky called in that the girl’s fingerprints didn’t match any on file at the police department or sheriff’s office. “They’re airmailing them to the FBI in Washington,” he said. Warden Woolard, the assistant managing editor, then came up with the idea that was to give the Examiner its first big lead on the story: the jump that, in Jimmy’s words, “made it our story from then on.” That night, a couple of Homicide Division detectives came to the Examiner offices and asked if they could have their artist’s drawing of the girl. Warden lambasted them for airmailing the prints to the FBI in Washington. There was going to be a big storm in the Midwest and the East, and all planes were to be grounded.


“That’s tough,” said one of the detectives.


“Not as tough as you think,” said Warden. “We can send those fingerprints by Soundphoto.† We can send them tonight right now, and have the answer within a few hours.”


Warden called Ray Richards, head of the Washington Bureau of the Hearst newspapers. Richards called the FBI and arranged for the prints, once wired to the Examiner’s Washington office by Soundphoto, to be delivered personally to Quinn Tann, the inspector in charge of fingerprint identification at the FBI. The first transmission over the telephone wires failed. The prints were indistinct. Russ Lapp, a photographer at the Examiner’s news bureau, then had the idea of blowing each fingerprint up and sending them one by one, as eight-by-tens. The prints reached the FBI at 11:00 a.m. But the images wired by Soundphoto, even when enlarged, were defective: two of the eight fingerprints were missing entirely, and three others badly blurred. Quinn Tann doubted that they could be used for identification. Nevertheless, dozens of assistants searched the fingerprint records by hand, leafing through card indexes under the glare of electric arc lights in the vast FBI vault. By 2:50 p.m., the prints had been identified.


She was Elizabeth Short, twenty-two years old, from Medford, Massachusetts. The fingerprints used for the identification had been filed with the FBI some years back by the Santa Barbara police. They had been taken on September 23, 1943, when the girl had been arrested for underage drinking with soldiers in a restaurant in the Mission Valley. At that point, she had been living with another girl in a bungalow court at West Cabrillo Beach. Soon a second matching print was traced with the help of the first: a national defense print submitted by the Services of Supply at the U.S. Army’s Camp Cooke, Lompoc, California. It transpired that the girl had been working as a clerk at the Camp Cooke post exchange when she was arrested.


The Santa Barbara police mug shot showed a sallow, sulky-faced girl with an upturned nose, a shock of raven-black hair, and eyes with strangely pale, glassy irises. She had a look that went straight through you. The pressmen, habituated to writing up all “tomatoes as stunners,” were for once not lying. Nobody had expected her to be so sullenly beautiful.


It transpired that after her arrest for underage drinking and while awaiting trial in Santa Barbara, the girl had been looked after by a local policewoman, Mary H. Unkefer. Officer Unkefer had befriended her and taken her into her home.


“She had the blackest hair I ever saw,” Unkefer told the swarm of reporters who descended on the Santa Barbara Police Station. “I noticed that she was a very nice girl and was most neat about her person and clothes.” Unkefer also mentioned that the girl had a rose tattooed on her upper left leg. “She loved to sit so that it would show,” she said. The killer had cut out the rose tattoo.‡ Eventually, Unkefer said, the juvenile court at Santa Barbara had released the girl on probation. Officer Unkefer had accompanied her to the bus station and put her on a bus home to Medford. The Santa Barbara Neighborhood House gave the girl $10 in expense money for food and Cokes on the six-day return trip.


It was the first time in history that fingerprints in a criminal case had been identified by Soundphoto. Jimmy Richardson took some time to crow about it before he sent Sid Hughes racing out to Lompoc to check out records at Camp Cooke. Sid prowled about the Army camp for a day or two. Soon he resurfaced with the information that the girl’s mother was Mrs. Phoebe Mae Short of Medford, Massachusetts.


Jimmy called in his reporter Wain Sutton, who was writing up the story. He told Wain to get on the telephone to the murdered girl’s mother.


“Now I want you to be careful,” Jimmy told Wain. “She probably doesn’t know her daughter has been murdered. So, find out everything you can about the girl without saying anything about her being dead. If you tell her at the start she’ll probably throw a wing ding and you won’t get anything.”


“What if she asks what it’s all about?” Wain asked.


“Stall her. Just keep asking questions. When you’ve got all you can then break the news to her.”


Wain gave Jimmy a look. “What a sweet guy you are,” he said, with deep sarcasm. But he proceeded to dial the number. Soon he had Phoebe Mae Short on the line. The mother was blissfully unaware of her daughter’s recent fate.


“Well Mrs. Short,” said Wain, “your daughter has won a beauty contest and we want to know all about her.”


Richardson was whooping inwardly. “Wain might have been sad-eyed,” he wrote later, “but he sure had come up with a daisy.”


After scribbling furiously for some time, Wain looked imploringly at his boss.


“Do I have to tell her? She’s so damn happy about the beauty contest.”


“Tell her.”§


And that was how Mrs. Phoebe Mae Short heard the news that her twenty-two-year-old daughter Elizabeth had been murdered and left on a sidewalk three thousand miles from the family home.


When Jimmy Richardson got back to his desk, Sid Hughes came up and told him that the girl had won the Camp Cooke “Cutie of the Week” contest during her brief spell at the Lompoc Army Base in 1943.


“Tell all this to Wain,” Richardson said dryly. “He’ll be glad to hear about her winning that contest.”


Wain, in the meantime, had extracted more facts from the mother. It transpired that Elizabeth was the third of five girls, born into a single-parent family in a working-class Boston suburb. She had no fixed address or job. She had lived at various times in Florida, Long Beach, Los Angeles, and Chicago, and had been staying, only ten days previously, at an address in Pacific Beach, San Diego. Jimmy called Tommy Devlin, his top crime reporter, to his desk. Tommy had been working on the Mocambo heist,¶ in which arrests were being made. Jimmy ordered Tommy to drop everything and hightail it to San Diego to dig up what he could.


Up until now, the newspaper reports had focused on the victim as a pathetic ingénue, a New England beauty who had been drawn to the dark lights of Hollywood like a moth to a flame. Elizabeth’s former boss at Camp Cooke, a Mrs. Inez Keeling, said that she first met Elizabeth in the spring of 1943. “I was won over all at once by her almost childlike charm and beauty. She was one of the loveliest girls I had ever seen—and the most shy.” Mrs. Keeling said that Elizabeth suffered from an acute bronchial condition: the doctors back home were afraid that she might have tuberculosis. “That is why her parents allowed her to room in California alone. She was just 18 then.” Most of the girls at the PXs used to date the servicemen. “But not Elizabeth,” said Mrs. Keeling. “She never visited over the counter with any of the boys, and always refused to date them. She was one of the few girls in my employ who didn’t smoke or occasionally take a drink. She lived in the camp and never went out nights.” In 1943 Elizabeth left her job, but she came to see Mrs. Keeling for the next few weeks. Then the girl suddenly dropped out of her life, and she never saw her again. The rumor was that Elizabeth had been assaulted by a sergeant at the Army base, known as “Sergeant Chuck,” whom she had been dating. The sergeant had been court-martialed and left the base. Elizabeth left shortly afterward.


But as the weeks passed, the image of the victim began, subtly, to change. There were incoming reports of many and various boyfriends; a rootless and drifting existence; and there had been the arrest for underage drinking in Santa Barbara. While it was clear that Elizabeth Short was no prostitute, equally she could no longer be characterized as an innocent. “This victim knew at least fifty men at the time of her death and at least twenty-five men had been seen with her in the sixty days preceding her death,” noted a police report. “She was not a prostitute. She was known as a teaser of men. She would ride with them, chisel a place to sleep, clothes and money, but she would then refuse to have sexual intercourse by telling them she was a virgin or that she was engaged or married. She has been known to see as many as four men in one day chiseling a ride, dinner money or a place to stay, and would then brush them off with a fabricated line of conversation.”


And so, slowly but surely, the public image of the murder victim began to change from that of a violated beauty into a “man crazy delinquent,” a temptress prowling the rain-soaked streets of an urban film noir. The society columnist on the Herald-Express, Caroline Walker, saw in Elizabeth’s fate a warning to the young women of postwar America:


“Two girls,” wrote Walker, “with the innocent curve of babyhood still rounding their young cheeks, walk down this or that boulevard. There is no innocence in the knowing eyes of these girls.” For such young women, wrote Walker, an evening of bar-hopping would end in a cheap hotel. Or the girls might go home: “home” being an apartment meant for two, crowded with bunk beds for eight. What, opined Walker, did these girls think of at night? Did they remember Sunday mornings, and a white steepled church in a little town? Perhaps, until the rush of excitement when the night returned, and they felt the same urge to prowl the streets like “animals in the jungle.” Such women, concluded Walker, were accusations against society, against parents, and against the American home, “as stark as the handwriting on the walls in Biblical days.”


Walker’s diatribe tapped directly into a wider social anxiety about Los Angeles’ “girl problem.” Southern California had always been sold as a destination for white American males seeking to escape the influx of “ignorant, hopelessly un-American” foreigners flooding into the eastern cities. But lately—largely due to the movie industry—the region had become a target for a new type of female immigrant. The movies portrayed heroines with thrilling life experiences, liberated from the restraints of work and family. The golden life they promised stimulated a wave of women in the massive wash of emigrants that deluged Southern California in the early twentieth century. By 1900, female migrants outpaced male, effecting a stunning reversal in western migration patterns. “There are more women in Los Angeles than any other city in the world and it’s the movies that bring them,” said a shopkeeper in 1918. The figures supported the claim. In 1920, Los Angeles became the only western city in which women outnumbered men. The “extra girls” were everywhere: “girls—tall girls and short girls, curly-haired girls and girls with their hair drawn sleekly back over their brows, girls who suggest mignonettes and girls who suggest tuberoses; girls in aprons and girls in evening gowns—girls by the score, their faces all grease paint, waiting in little chattering groups for their big moment of the day.”


The uncontrollable tide of youthful female flesh let loose on the West Coast created a moral panic. As the journalist Walter Lippmann put it, “external control of the chastity of women is becoming impossible.” The dangers facing girls who left the white clapboard houses of home to venture into Sin City were starkly highlighted in books such as Edgar Rice Burroughs’s The Girl from Hollywood (1922). Written at his Tarzana ranch in the San Fernando Valley (where Burroughs penned his more famous Tarzan of the Apes), The Girl from Hollywood features two heroines, neither of whom, with telling irony, actually comes from Hollywood. Seeking fame and fortune, the girls wind up drug-addicted, pregnant, and—in the case of one—dead; a telling parable of the dangers of a city whose sinister temptations were all the more insidious in that they took place under a blazing azure sky. Those girls with the “Bohemian bacillus” in their system, warned the film producer Benjamin Hampton, were in danger of reaching the “end of their journey” in a store, a restaurant, or the morgue.


Elizabeth Short—the dead extra girl from Massachusetts—made even better preaching material than any heroine of Edgar Rice Burroughs. She was real. But the murdered girl now required a new, headline-grabbing moniker to fit her new image. The newspapers found one. It came from a pharmacist in Long Beach, where, in the summer of 1946, the girl had drifted for a few months. The druggist, Arnold Landers, Sr., recalled her hanging around the soda fountain. “She’d come to our drug store frequently. She’d usually wear a two-piece beach costume which left her midriff bare. She’d wear the black lacey things. Her hair was jet black, and she liked to wear it high. She was popular with the men who came in here, and they got to calling her The Black Dahlia.”


The Black Dahlia. It was the moniker of the decade. Jimmy Richardson said it was the brainchild of one of his reporters. Aggie Underwood claimed it as her own. Whoever first printed the name, it must have been inspired by the 1946 film The Blue Dahlia, a hard-boiled noir movie scripted by Raymond Chandler, featuring Alan Ladd and Veronica Lake. Floral names were fashionable for murders in those days. There had already been the “Red Hibiscus” and the “White Gardenia” killings.# The “Black Dahlia” fit right in the box, although—as Aggie Underwood speculated—a “red rose” murder might be even better, as it would sound like “class as well as homicide.” Aggie herself was a pro when it came to floral murder tags. Once she had dropped a white carnation on the body of a waitress who had been stabbed to death, dubbing the killing the “white carnation murder.” When a cop objected to her taking a picture of her creation, Aggie smacked him with her purse.


Within weeks, the “Black Dahlia” sobriquet had established itself as an integral part of what was swiftly becoming a Hollywood legend. For many—including Lieutenant Harry Hansen, one of the lead LAPD detectives on the case—it was the reason for the legend. Hansen recalled that there had been many other crimes that year, at least as horrific and with victims at least as attractive. But not one got the same attention. It was the name “Black Dahlia” that sparked a national obsession.


Beneath the smoldering gaze and the lacy black chiffon outfits of the Black Dahlia legend, however, the reality of the victim’s life was more prosaic. Jimmy Richardson summed it up best of all. “She was a pitiful wanderer, ricocheting from one cheap job to another and from one cheap man to another in a sad search for a good husband and a home and happiness. Not bad. Not good. Just lost and trying to find a way out. Every big city has hundreds just like her.”


“We’re hotter than a firecracker,” Tommy Devlin told Jimmy Richardson upon his return from San Diego. “Just listen to this.” The letter that Elizabeth had sent to her mother from San Diego had been written while she was staying at the home of a Mrs. Elvera French on Camino Padera Drive in Pacific Beach. Mrs. French’s daughter, Dorothy, was a cashier at the Aztec Theatre downtown. The Aztec was an all-night movie theater where the homeless would crash. Dorothy had found Elizabeth asleep in the theater on the night of December 8, 1946, and had offered to take her to her home. Elizabeth had only been meant to stay a night with the French family. In the end, she lived there for a month.


“She left the French place about six o’clock on the evening of January 8 with a man known as Red,” Tommy reported. “This Red sent her a telegram from Huntington Park saying that he would pick her up the next day. She told Mrs. French and Dorothy he was taking her to Los Angeles.” Red was apparently a tall, red-haired, freckled man in his twenties.


“Good going, Tommy,” said Jimmy. “Call me in an hour. Have we got this all alone? Have you told the Frenches not to talk? If it takes dough to shut them up give it to them.”


“They’re shut up,” said Tommy, “I’ve seen to that.”


The urgent task now was to track down “Red,” the mysterious man who had collected Elizabeth on January 8. He must have been one of the last people to see Elizabeth alive. Jimmy sent a crew tearing down to Huntington Park to trace the telegram to which Tommy had referred. They found it. It read: BE THERE TOMORROW AFTERNOON LATE WOULD LIKE TO SEE YOU, RED. But there was no address.


Jimmy told Tommy to keep searching the records of motels at Pacific Beach for any trace of Elizabeth and Red. It was, he well knew, the time when a city editor sweats it out: the moment when he needs those little white pills. These were tough times for city editors. The City of Angels had, at this point, more than its fair share of newspapers in a cutthroat fight for a piece of the market. They included the staid and sober Los Angeles Times, the bastion of the conservative establishment, steered by the latest scion of the Chandler dynasty, real estate billionaire Harry Chandler; the shoot-’em-up and go-get-’em papers owned by Chandler’s rival press magnate, William Randolph Hearst, the Herald-Express and the Los Angeles Examiner; and the ever-struggling Daily News, run on a shoestring by the Democrat-supporting Manchester Boddy. Everybody knew it was the Chandler and Hearst interests that ran the show. While very different men, Harry Chandler and William Randolph Hearst were united in their implacable animosity to the unions, organized labor, nonwhite “foreigners,” and the “hot bed of Communism” which Hollywood was alleged to have become. But their approach to the threat differed. While the Times remained aloof and overtly allied to WASP establishment and business interests, the Hearst newspapers entered the fray with hysterical forays into yellow journalism to keep working-class readers entertained and well distracted from the issues that most affected them. The writer F. Scott Fitzgerald, blacklisted by the Hearst establishment for his alcoholism, was one of many to mock the typical Hearst headlines of the day. “Mickey Mouse Murdered! Randolph Hearst Declares War on China!” shouts a newsboy in Fitzgerald’s 1941 novel The Last Tycoon. The difference in editorial approach between the media moguls at Los Feliz and San Simeon partly explained the difference in the attitude toward the Dahlia case taken by their respective newspapers. Chandler’s Times, on the whole, did its best to ignore the sordid story as beneath its dignity. Hearst’s Examiner and Herald-Express, on the other hand, flogged it within inches of death.


Of all the newspapermen on the street, Jimmy Richardson’s were the most aggressive. They had huge expense accounts, bankrolled by the old man, who still barked out orders from his monolithic castle at San Simeon. Other newspapers, Jimmy knew, did not stand a chance in competition. Not that they didn’t try. The Daily News had two reporters assigned to the Dahlia case to the Examiner’s twenty. In a desperate attempt to get more copy, the News sent a rookie reporter, Roy Ringer, into the Examiner offices in the early days of the story, posing as a copyboy. Ringer went to the spike where the proofs were ready for the next day, grabbed a bunch of them, and returned to the Daily News office. The next day, the Daily News ran the same “exclusives” as the Examiner. On Ringer’s third visit, he felt a tap on his shoulder from behind. It was Jimmy Richardson. “Nice try, but don’t try it again.”


All through the night and day, Jimmy waited for word from Tommy. When it arrived, he could have kissed him.


“I’ve got it,” said Tommy. “I’ve found the motel where Red stayed when he was down there and where he stayed with the Dahlia the night they left the Frenches.”


Tommy had gotten the license-plate number of the car from the owner of the motel at Pacific Beach where Red had stayed with Elizabeth Short the night of January 8. Red and Elizabeth had checked out of the motel at 12:30 p.m. on January 9. That meant they would have arrived in Los Angeles later that afternoon.


It took no time to run down the license. The owner of the car—a 1939 Studebaker coupe—was a twenty-five-year-old pipe clamp salesman called Robert M. Manley. He had been a musician in the Army and had a psychiatric discharge from the service. He resided on Mountain View Avenue in Huntington Park.


Jimmy ordered two crews of reporters and photographers to hightail it over to Huntington Park. He’d be damned if he wasn’t the first newspaperman to get an interview with “Red,” the prime suspect in the Dahlia case.





* Jimmy Richardson’s hard-drinking and hard-living newspaperman’s life story was retold in fictional form in the novel Come, Fill the Cup (1952) by Harlan Ware, later to be dramatized in a film starring James Cagney.


† Soundphoto: an early form of fax machine.


‡ Among the many mutilations of the body of Elizabeth Short, Dr. Newbarr noted in his autopsy report: “There is an irregular opening in the skin on the anterior surface of the left thigh with tissue loss. The opening measures 3½" transversely at the base and 4" from the base longitudinally to the upper back. The laceration extends into the subcutaneous soft tissue and muscle.” This was in fact a reference to the incision that was made by the killer in order to remove the rose tattoo. The cutting out of the tattoo was never revealed in the press, but it was hinted at in a Herald-Express report on the discovery of the body: “A piece of flesh was gouged out of the left thigh, leading to the belief her murderer may have removed it to conceal an identifying mark” (Herald-Express, January 16, 1947).


§ Richardson recalls this episode with some pride in his 1954 memoir For the Life of Me (New York: Putnam, pp. 299–300).


¶ Mocambo heist: a holdup of the Mocambo Nightclub on the Sunset Strip, for which several local gangsters were rounded up and arrested in January 1947.


# The Red Hibiscus murder: name given by the press to the killing of Naomi Tullis Cook, who was found beaten to death with a bolt and left in a clump of bushes in Lincoln Park in 1946. The White Gardenia murder: moniker for the murder of forty-two-year-old Ora Murray, whose partially nude body was found on the Fox Hill Golf Course in West Los Angeles in 1943. The killer had carefully placed a white gardenia under her right shoulder.
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THE CAPTURE





In the end it wasn’t one of Jimmy’s boys who got the first interview with Red. It was Aggie Underwood.


Red wasn’t home when Jimmy Richardson’s team arrived at the house in Huntington Park. He was on a trip to San Francisco with his boss. Jimmy’s men had to make do with Red’s wife, Harriette, a pretty young woman who came to the door with the couple’s four-month-old baby in her arms. Mrs. Manley was adamant that her husband had come straight home on the evening of January 9. He had been at work all day and home every night since, until he left for San Francisco. She wouldn’t believe he’d been with another girl unless she heard it from his own lips. He was faithful and good to her and the baby and his home. She loved him no matter what happened to him and would stand by him. Harriette posed for pictures with the baby and gave the reporters pictures of Red. “Gad, what a woman!” sighed an Examiner newspaperman. “Beautiful and forgiving. Why can’t I find somebody like that?”


Red was arrested on the night of Sunday, January 19, returning from San Francisco to his boss’s house in Eagle Rock. Detectives and journalists lay in wait together in the garden and bushes of the suburban home. As the headlights of the returning automobile cut through the blackness to light up the garage doors, a gaggle of police and pressmen shrank back into the shadows. No sooner had the tall figure, clad in pin-striped suit and gray fedora, emerged from the vehicle than he was immediately pounced upon and frisked from behind by one of the detectives. “I know why you’re here, but I didn’t do it,” he told the waiting newspapermen. Within minutes, Red was bundled into a waiting police car. The vehicle sped up Santa Fe Avenue to the police station at Hollenbeck, cleverly avoiding the swarm of pressmen and photographers who had gathered outside Central.


At the Hollenbeck Police Station detectives grilled Manley for most of the night. By the time Aggie Underwood got there early Monday morning, both Red and the interviewing officers were exhausted, and Manley had clammed up.


Aggie sized up the suspect. She was ready to talk sympathetically about hangovers, and this guy “looked like the kind who would strike up a decent conversation in a bar.” Even after a night of being given the third degree by the cops, he was still dapper and dandy, with his slicked-back hair.


“You look as if you’ve been on a drunk.” Aggie said to Red.


“This is worse than any I’ve ever been on.”


Perry Fowler, Aggie’s photographer, took his cue and helpfully handed Manley a cigarette.


“Look, fella,” said Aggie chummily. “You’re in one hell of a spot. You’re in a jam and it’s no secret. If you’re innocent as you say you are, tell the whole story; and if you haven’t anything to hide, people can’t help knowing you’re telling the truth. That way, you’ll get it over with all at once and it won’t be kicking around to cause you more trouble.”


“She’s right,” said homicide detective Harry S. Fremont, who immediately spotted the opportunity. In a mean police department, Harry Fremont was one of the meanest cops in town. Once, he had nearly beaten a prisoner to death at the Seventy-seventh Street substation. The journalist Gene Fowler was convinced that Fremont had killed a number of criminals in back alleys.* But Harry was smart enough to see that a woman’s touch might accomplish more than a beating in this case. “Tell her everything that happened. I’ve known this lady for a long time, on lots of big cases, and I can tell you she won’t do you wrong.”


So Robert “Red” Manley told his story. First to Aggie, and then to the cops—many times over in the ensuing months. What he had to say was straightforward, and barely differed through the many times he was to tell it. The first time he had met Elizabeth Short, Red said, was when he picked up the pale, black-haired girl at a San Diego street corner on a business trip, sometime around December 16, 1946. She was such a “pretty gal,” he said, he had to stop and rake up a conversation with her.


Red and his wife had just had a baby. They were, in his words, going “through an adjustment period.” They had lots to iron out—“nothing important, just little things.” So when he saw the black-haired girl on the street corner, he decided to pick her up and make a test for himself, to see if he still loved Harriette. “I asked her if she wanted to ride. She turned her head and wouldn’t look at me. I talked some more. I told her who I was. And what I did and so forth. Finally, she turned around and asked me if I didn’t think it was wrong to ask a girl on a corner to get into my car. I said ‘Yes, but I’d like to take you home,’ so she got into the car.” She told him she was staying temporarily with a family called French in Pacific Beach and was working at Western Airlines.


Red was adamant that he and the girl “didn’t do anything.” They just rode around and talked, had a dance and dinner, and he dropped her back where she was staying with the French family. “No, I didn’t ask her to stop at my room. We did sit in the car and talk for a short time, and I kissed her a couple of times, but she was kind of cold, I would say.” Red told the girl he was married and she told him she had been, too, to a “Major Matt somebody.” He told her he would wire her if he came back again San Diego way.


When Red had to make another trip to San Diego a few weeks later in January 1947, he sent the girl the telegram. He arrived in San Diego on Wednesday, January 8, and headed to the Western Airlines office, where he waited for her to come out. But she never showed up, and the folks there had never heard of her. He doubted she really worked there. He then went to the French house, where the girl was there to greet him. She asked him to drive her to Los Angeles. Red agreed, but said he could only do so the next day. She left the Frenches’ house with him that night. They checked into a motel at Pacific Beach and went to the Hacienda Club in Mission Valley, where she threw herself into the music. She really loved dancing: at one point, she danced with the singer of the band. “We danced several times and had several drinks. She was gay and happy and seemed to be having a swell time,” Red recalled.


But once they got back to their motel room, it was as though all the light went out of the girl. She became sullen and silent. She took a blanket off the bed and propped her legs up against the wall by the heater, shivering. Red asked her what was the matter. She said she didn’t feel well, to please leave her alone. It was her time of the month. So Red didn’t interfere with her. All that long night she acted very cold. She didn’t want to even talk about sex. He didn’t know what was the matter with her. In fact, he was beginning to think he’d be glad to get rid of her.


The next morning, January 9, Red gave the girl a dollar to go get some breakfast and told her that he would collect her around noon. He had some business to attend to in the morning, so he came back after that and they set off. They stopped at the beach city of Encinitas en route because he had business there with a water company. They stayed about an hour and a half there, a time during which she might have made some calls, but as far as he was concerned she was waiting in his car. She mentioned that a couple of fellows on bicycles talked to her while she was waiting. They had a hamburger at Encinitas, which she ate with relish. After Encinitas, he made a couple more stops before they got to Los Angeles—one at Oceanside, then one at Laguna Beach, for gas, at around 5:00 p.m.


All along the road to Los Angeles, the girl seemed anxious. She would strain her head and look at cars that overtook them and cars they overtook, as if she were worried about being tailed. Every time they passed a car, she would turn her head and take a look at the occupants. That seemed funny to Red. She was pretty much silent all the way back. Red remembered remarking to her, “Don’t like my company?” She replied, “It’s not that.”


When they arrived in Los Angeles, the girl told Red that she was going to meet her sister from Berkeley at the lobby of the downtown Biltmore Hotel. Then, she said, she intended to go back to her home in Boston. She suggested checking her baggage into the Greyhound bus depot: her sister might not be at the Biltmore right away, and she didn’t want to have her baggage at the hotel. She seemed happy for Red to leave her there at the bus depot. But Red said no: it was a bad part of town. He insisted on dropping her at the Biltmore. It was, the girl said, her first time in L.A.


When they got to the Biltmore the girl went to the restroom to freshen up. Red went to check at the desk to see if her sister had arrived, but she hadn’t. He left Beth at the Biltmore about 6:30 p.m., as it was late and he was anxious to be getting home. That was the last he saw of her. The doorman at the Biltmore was later to corroborate Red’s story. According to him, Beth spent several hours alone in the lobby of the Biltmore after Manley had left. She made some telephone calls. Finally, she left the hotel via the Olive Street exit about 10:00 p.m. The doorman saw her figure retreating into the fog, southward down Olive. It was the last reported sighting of Elizabeth Short to be confirmed, before her bisected body was found in the vacant lot at Leimert Park.†


Red could recall very little about the girl’s conversation. It seemed there wasn’t much between them in the way of communication. He remembered that she had a little address book in which she noted people’s names and addresses, and that she kept harping on about some fellow named Gordon, or something like that, whom she claimed she had married. She had shown him a picture of the guy. He described the clothes she was wearing when she left Pacific Beach, the last outfit in which she had been seen: a black tailored jacket and skirt, white frilly blouse, white gloves, black suede open-toed high-heeled shoes, and “her last pair of nylons.” She carried a beige camel-hair coat over her arm and gripped a black clutch purse in her hand, but wore no hat or jewelry of any kind. Above all, Red remembered the strange and distinctive perfume that she wore: heavy, musky, and sweet. It enveloped her like a pall.


Robert “Red” Manley’s sensational interview—carried in the Herald-Express in boldface quotes under Aggie’s byline—established his innocence. As Aggie said, nobody could doubt that “there was the resonance of truthfulness in what he had to say.” Manley’s Studebaker coupe was thoroughly investigated for bloodstains by LAPD chemist Raymond Pinker. The results were negative. His wife and friends swore to his alibi, that he was playing cards with them on the night of the killing. Harriette was a rock throughout. “The whole idea that Red had anything to do with this case is absurd,” she told the newspapermen. “He’d faint if he merely saw blood.” After undergoing two grueling lie-detector tests and passing with flying colors, Red was released clear of suspicion. According to Aggie, he “eliminated himself by his own straightforwardness, and the police got him out of their hair.” Manley told Aggie, “I’ll swear on a stack of Bibles and tell my minister, too, that [Thursday, January 9] was the last time I ever saw Betty Short. I did not kill her. But, brother, I’ll never cheat on my wife again.”‡
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